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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS OF ALLEGHENY COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA 

 

COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 

By ATTORNEY GENERAL MICHELLE A. 

HENRY, 

 

    Plaintiff, 

 

    v. 

 

DIGITAL DREAM LABS, INC., and  

HAROLD JACOB HANCHAR, Individually and 

as CEO of Digital Dream Labs, Inc., 

 

    Defendants. 

CIVIL DIVISION 

 

Code 020 – Equity 

 

Case No. ________________________ 

 

  

 

COMPLAINT 

 

AND NOW, comes the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, by Attorney General Michelle 

A. Henry (“Commonwealth” or “Plaintiff”), and brings this action pursuant to the Pennsylvania 

Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Law, 73 P.S. § 201-1, et seq. (“Consumer 

Protection Law”), to restrain by permanent injunction unfair methods of competition and unfair 

or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce declared unlawful by 

Section 201-3 of the Consumer Protection Law. The Consumer Protection Law authorizes the 

Attorney General to bring an action in the name of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania to 

restrain by temporary and/or permanent injunction unfair methods of competition or unfair or 

deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce declared unlawful by Section 

201-3 of the Consumer Protection Law. 

The Commonwealth has reason to believe that Digital Dream Labs, Inc. (“Corporate 

Defendant”) and Harold Jacob Hanchar, Individually and as CEO of Digital Dream Labs, Inc. 

(“Individual Defendant” and when referred to collectively with Corporate Defendant, 

“Defendants”), have used and/or are about to use methods, acts or practices declared unlawful by 
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Section 201-3 of the Consumer Protection Law; and that citizens of the Commonwealth are 

suffering and will continue to suffer harm unless the acts and practices complained of are 

enjoined. The Commonwealth believes that the public interest is served by seeking before this 

Honorable Court injunctive relief to restrain Defendants’ unlawful methods, acts and practices 

set forth herein. The Commonwealth further requests restitution, civil penalties, costs and other 

appropriate equitable relief to redress the harm inflicted upon our Commonwealth’s citizenry 

through Defendants’ violations of the Consumer Protection Law. 

In support of this action, the Commonwealth respectfully represents the following: 

JURISDICTION 

1. This Court has original jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 931 of the 

Judicial Code, 42 Pa.C.S. § 931(a). 

VENUE 

2. Venue lies with this Court pursuant to Pa. R.C.P. 1006(a)(2) and (3).  

THE PARTIES 

3. Plaintiff is the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, by Attorney General Michelle A. 

Henry, with offices located at 1251 Waterfront Place, Mezzanine Level, Pittsburgh, 

Pennsylvania 15222 and at 15th Floor, Strawberry Square, Harrisburg, Pennsylvania 17120. 

4. Corporate Defendant is a foreign business corporation registered with the 

Pennsylvania Department of State, Bureau of Corporations and Charitable Organizations: 

Corporations Section, with a business address of 86022 Broad Street, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 

15206 

5. Individual Defendant in the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)/President of 

Corporate Defendant and resides at 22 Wedgewood Lane, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15215.  
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FACTS 

Background 

6. This case involves a massive nationwide scheme where consumers were promised 

and paid for robots that they never received or got refunds for.  Instead, Defendants have 

interminably delayed orders and frustrated consumer options for relief. 

7. At all times relevant and material hereto, Defendants have engaged in trade and 

commerce within the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania by advertising, marketing, offering for 

sale and selling edtech tools and small robots, including but not limited to the Vector 2.0, Cozmo 

2.0 and Butter Robot.   The Defendants also offer cloud computing services to support these 

devices.  

8. At all times relevant and material hereto, Individual Defendant has been the 

CEO/President, sole board member and majority shareholder of Corporate Defendant.  

9. At all times material and relevant hereto, Individual Defendant authorized, 

approved, endorsed, formulated, directed, controlled, and/or participated in the conduct of the 

Corporate Defendant.   

10. In certain instances, Individual Defendant communicated directly with consumers 

regarding the status of their orders and/or the resolution of consumer complaints regarding 

outstanding orders.   

11. Individual Defendant has also personally appeared in State of Robotics Webinars 

and other video updates on the state of the Vector 2.0, Cozmo 2.0 and Butter Robots.  These 

videos were uploaded to Corporate Defendant’s YouTube account and Facebook page.   

12. At all times relevant and material hereto, the unfair methods, act and practices 

complained of herein have been willfully used by the Defendants. 
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Overview of Defendants’ Online Business  

13. Defendants promote and sell their products to consumers via the Internet.  

14. Defendants maintain accounts on several social media platforms including 

Facebook, Instagram, X and YouTube, which they use to promote their products.   

15. Defendants operate multiple websites, including but not limited to: 

https://digitaldreamlabs.com  (“DDL website”); https://thebutterrobot.com (“Butter website”) 

and most recently, https://ddlbots.com (“DDLbots website”) where consumers worldwide can 

purchase Defendants’ products.  

16. In order to place an order via Defendants’ websites, consumers must prepay the 

entire purchase, including any applicable taxes, fees and shipping costs.   

17. Although Defendants periodically claimed that the products would be available 

for purchase for a limited time, they did not disclose any limitation in the quantity available.   

18. Defendants have a “refund policy,” which only applies to returns.1  See 

https://ddlbots.com/policies/refund-policy.    

19. Defendants currently do not permit consumers to alter or cancel unfulfilled orders. 

20. Specifically, the FAQ section of the DDLbots website states as follows: “Can I 

cancel my order? We completely get it, we change our minds too! While we wish [sic] could, 

once an order is placed, we are unable to alter or cancel it at this time. We hope to have a 

cancellation window one day in the future.”  https://ddlbots.com/pages/contact   

 

 

                                                           
1 Defendants’ websites are scrolling and oftentimes contain videos and other media, making it 

difficult to capture the relevant information in a printout.  Therefore, instead of attaching a 

printout of the webpage(s) as an Exhibit, the relevant links have been provided.     

https://digitaldreamlabs.com/
https://thebutterrobot.com/
https://ddlbots.com/
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Vector 2.0 

21. Vector 2.0 is a companion robot, which Defendants have marketed as an upgraded 

version of the Vector robot originally created by Anki.2     

22. In November 2020, Defendants began accepting orders for Vector 2.0.   

23. Between November 20, 2020 and January 29, 2024, Defendants accepted 

approximately 7,800 preorders for Vector 2.0 via the DDL and DDLbots websites.   

24. The base cost for each Vector 2.0 was between $277.00 and $655.00.   

25. As of the date of this filing, Defendants’ Vector 2.0 sales total nearly 

$2,800,000.00.   

26. When Defendants first began accepting orders for Vector 2.0 on the DDL website, 

they advertised the expected delivery date as being as early as May 15, 2021. See 

https://web.archive.org/web/20201126234549/https://www.digitaldreamlabs.com/products/vecto

r-pre-order 

27. Almost immediately, Defendants had to postpone the anticipated delivery date for 

Vector 2.0, due to their inability to fulfill any of the orders.   

28. The anticipated delivery was delayed without explanation on a nearly monthly 

basis moving from May 15th to June 15th to July 15th and then August 15th, 2021. 

29. Defendants closed orders for Vector 2.0 on June 12, 2021 with no update as to the 

expected delivery date for the prior orders.  

30. In late November 2021, Defendants began allowing consumers to order Vector 

2.0 once again from the DDL website.   

                                                           
2 Anki is a robotics and artificial intelligence startup that Defendants acquired in December 2019 

after it went bankrupt. 
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31. By January 2022, Defendants required consumers to click an acknowledgment 

prior to purchase, which stated that Vector was on backorder and that deliveries would begin in 

early 2022.  

https://web.archive.org/web/20220120080258/https://www.digitaldreamlabs.com/products/vecto

r-robot 

32. By June 2022, Defendants had postponed the delivery date once again, this time 

to the third quarter of 2022.  

https://web.archive.org/web/20220620002240/https://www.digitaldreamlabs.com/products/vecto

r-robot 

33. Defendants provided little to no justification for the delays and also failed to 

explain how they would be able to meet the revised deadlines.   

34. By September 2022, the DDL website represented that Defendants were now 

shipping orders received on or before June 12, 2021, and that deliveries of all other orders would 

commence in the fourth quarter of 2022.  

https://web.archive.org/web/20220924111107/https://www.digitaldreamlabs.com/products/vecto

r-robot 

35. In the spring and summer 2023, Defendants represented on the DDL website that 

Vector 2.0 was in stock and shipping within 1 business day. See e.g. 

https://web.archive.org/web/20230603113451/https://www.digitaldreamlabs.com/products/vecto

r-robot 

36. By September 2023, Defendants were representing that the Vector 2.0 was out of 

stock.  
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https://web.archive.org/web/20230915234728/https://www.digitaldreamlabs.com/products/vecto

r-robot 

37. On or about January 1, 2024, Defendants switched from the DDL website to the 

DDLbots website, which contained no new information regarding Vector 2.0.  

38. Thus, since the fall of 2023, Defendants have not provided production updates or 

anticipated delivery dates for outstanding Vector 2.0 orders via their websites.     

39. Historically, Defendants’ websites did not provide consumers with information on 

how they could cancel their unfulfilled Vector 2.0 orders and seek a full refund. 

40. As detailed above in paragraphs 19-20, the DDLbots website now claims that 

consumers cannot cancel or alter their Vector 2.0 orders.  

41. As of the date of this filing, numerous consumers have not yet received a Vector 

2.0 despite prepaying the entire purchase price. 

42. As of the date of this filing, numerous consumers have not yet received a refund 

despite their efforts to cancel their unfulfilled Vector 2.0 order.   

43. Numerous consumers have provided Defendants with written requests for a 

refund, and have received only an unresponsive automated message in response.   

44. For example, when consumers first seek a refund, Defendants oftentimes send an 

automated response that attempts to dissuade the consumer by noting the pricing discounts 

associated with the preorder, and then implies the order will not be cancelled until the consumer 

reasserts their intention to move forward with the cancellation.  A true and correct copy of a 

representative sampling of Defendants’ responses to consumer cancellation requests relative to 

Vector 2.0, with personal identifiers redacted, are attached as Exhibit A. 
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45. When consumers follow-up with Defendants regarding their refund request, they 

are either ignored or receive another automated response.  Typically, the automated response 

apologizes for the delay in processing the refund and blames the delay on the sheer volume of 

refund requests being handled by the Defendants. See Exhibit A.   

46. Some consumers are sent an automated message discouraging them from making 

additional inquiries into the refund, as doing so may further delay the process.  See Exhibit A. 

47. As a result, many consumers have not received a refund, nor do they have any 

information as to when the refund will be forthcoming, despite their multiple attempts to contact 

the Defendants and demand a refund.   

Cozmo 2.0 

48. Cozmo 2.0 is an educational robot, which Defendants have marketed as an 

upgraded version of the Cozmo robot originally created by Anki.  

49. Between November 20, 2020 and December 28, 2022, Defendants accepted 

approximately 2,500 orders for Cozmo 2.0.   

50. The base cost for each Cozmo 2.0 was between $197.00 and $455.00.   

51. As of the date of this filing, the Cozmo 2.0 sales total almost $710,000.00. 

52. When Defendants first began accepting orders for Cozmo 2.0 on November 20, 

2020, the DDL website advertised that delivery should be expected as early as May 15, 2021. 

https://web.archive.org/web/20201127001401/https://www.digitaldreamlabs.com/products/cozm

o-pre-order 

53. Within months, Defendants began pushing back the expected delivery date for 

Cozmo 2.0 due to their inability to fulfill any of the orders. 
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54. On an almost monthly basis and without explanation, Defendants delayed the 

expected delivery date from as early as May 15, 2021 to June 15, 2021 to July 15, 2021 to 

August 15, 2021.  

55. By June 13, 2021, Defendants had stopped accepting orders for Cozmo 2.0 on the 

DDL website, and instead, offered individuals the opportunity to be placed on a waitlist.  No 

anticipated delivery date for Cozmo 2.0 appeared on the DDL website at that time.  

https://web.archive.org/web/20210826172037/https:/www.digitaldreamlabs.com/products/cozmo

-pre-order 

56. On or about November 2021, Defendants reopened orders for Cozmo 2.0 on the 

DDL website with no anticipated delivery date.  

57. In December 2021, Defendants updated the DDL website and began requiring 

consumers to check a box stating “I understand that Cozmo 2.0 is currently on backorder with 

deliveries estimated to begin in early 2022,” in order to complete their order.   No explanation 

was provided for the purported backorder. 

https://web.archive.org/web/20211226112531/https://www.digitaldreamlabs.com/products/cozm

o-robot 

58. By July 2022, delivery of Cozmo 2.0 was postponed again with delivery being 

advertised as starting in the third quarter of 2022. 

https://web.archive.org/web/20220715102251/https://www.digitaldreamlabs.com/products/cozm

o-robot 

59. The final update on the production of Cozmo 2.0 via the DDL website occurred 

on November 2, 2022.  At that time, Defendants acknowledged they were still working on the 
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software and no estimated delivery date was provided. 

https://support.digitaldreamlabs.com/article/515-state-of-manufacturing-cozmo-2-0 

60. Historically, Defendants’ websites did not provide consumers with information on 

how to cancel their unfulfilled Cozmo 2.0 orders and seek a full refund. 

61. As detailed above in paragraphs 19-20 the DDLbots website now states that 

consumers cannot cancel or alter their Cozmo 2.0 orders.   

62. As of the date of this filing, no consumers have received a Cozmo 2.0 despite 

prepaying the entire purchase price. 

63. As of the date of this filing, Defendants remain unable to fulfill any of the Cozmo 

2.0 orders, despite the passage of several years. 

64. As of the date of this filing, numerous consumers have not yet received a refund 

despite their efforts to cancel their unfulfilled Cozmo 2.0 order.   

65. With respect to Cozmo 2.0 orders, numerous consumers have provided 

Defendants with written requests for a refund, and have received only an unresponsive 

automated message in response.   

66. When consumers first seek a refund, Defendants usually attempt to dissuade the 

consumer by noting the pricing discounts associated with the preorder, and then implying that 

the order will not be cancelled until the consumers reassert their intention to move forward with 

the cancellation.  A true and correct copy of a representative sampling of Defendants’ responses 

to consumer cancellation requests relative to Cozmo 2.0, with personal identifiers redacted, are 

attached as Exhibit B.     

67. When consumers follow-up with Defendants regarding their refund request, they 

are either ignored or receive another automated response apologizing for the delay.  Typically, 
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the delay is blamed on the sheer volume of refund requests being handled by the Defendants. See 

Exhibit B.  

68. Some consumers are sent an automated message discouraging them from making 

additional inquiries into the refund, as doing so may further delay the process.   

69. As a result, many consumers have not received a refund, nor do they have any 

information as to when the refund will be forthcoming, despite their multiple attempts to contact 

the Defendants and demand a refund for their unfulfilled Cozmo 2.0 preorder.   

“Butter Robot” 

70. The “Butter Robot” is a toy robot based upon a character from the Rick and Morty 

cartoon.   

71. Defendants created the Butter website for the sole purpose of marketing the Butter 

Robot and accepting orders.   

72. Between November 14, 2020 and August 3, 2021, Defendants accepted 

approximately 3,800 orders for the Butter Robot.   

73. Each Butter Robot sold for between $147.00 and $197.00 plus taxes and shipping.   

74. As of the date of this filing, the Butter Robot sales total approximately 

$625,000.00.   

75. When Defendants first began accepting orders for the Butter Robot in November 

2020, the Butter website stated that delivery was anticipated as early as May 15, 2021. 

http://web.archive.org/web/20201127184807/https://www.thebutterrobot.com/ 

76. When the May 15, 2021 delivery deadline arrived, Defendants were unable to 

fulfill the orders.   
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77. Around this time, Defendants placed a notification bar at the bottom of the Butter 

website stating that a “variety of challenges” had delayed shipment of the Butter Robot.  

Defendants further stated that they would provide customers who had already ordered the Butter 

Robot with regular emails on manufacturing progress and shipping dates. 

http://web.archive.org/web/20210607162046/https://www.thebutterrobot.com/ 

78. Defendants did not follow through on this promise, and failed to provide 

consumers with emails updating them on the manufacturing progress and shipping dates.    

79. Instead, Defendants placed “state of manufacturing” updates on the DDL website 

regarding the Butter Robot.  See https://support.digitaldreamlabs.com/article/513-state-of-

manufacturing-butter-robot 

80. No information relative to shipping/delivery dates appear in the state of 

manufacturing updates.   

81. The last state of manufacturing update is from August 29, 2022.  At that time, the 

Butter Robot was still in the prototype stage and required approval from licensing partners.  The 

related app for the robot was also still under development.   

82. Several consumers actively sought out additional updates on the status of the 

Butter Robot. 

83. Initially, Defendants represented the delays were due to supply chain issues and 

delays in the manufacturing process.  A true and correct copy of a representative sampling of 

Defendants’ communications with consumers relative to the Butter Robot, with personal 

identifiers redacted, are attached as Exhibit C. 

84. Since August 2022, consumers have not received any updates relative to the 

manufacturing process or shipping dates for the Butter Robot.     

http://web.archive.org/web/20210607162046/https:/www.thebutterrobot.com/
https://support.digitaldreamlabs.com/article/513-state-of-manufacturing-butter-robot
https://support.digitaldreamlabs.com/article/513-state-of-manufacturing-butter-robot
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85. Upon information and belief, the Butter website became inactive in early 2024.   

86. Historically, Defendants provided consumers with very little information about 

how they could cancel their unfulfilled Butter Robot order and obtain a full refund.   

87. For example, the Butter website makes no mention of cancelling an order.    

88. Defendants’ email communications with consumers are similarly unhelpful and 

vaguely stated that “[i]f you need to change your order, including cancelling it, we can help 

handle that for you if you request it,” but fail to provide any information on how to request a 

cancellation.   See Exhibit C.  

89. As detailed in paragraphs 19-20, the DDLbots website now states that consumers 

cannot cancel their Butter Robot order.   

90. As of the date of this filing, no consumers have received a Butter Robot despite 

prepaying the entire purchase price. 

91. As of the date of this filing, Defendants remain unable to fulfill any of the Butter 

Robot orders, despite the passage of several years.   

92. As of the date of this filing, numerous consumers have not yet received a refund 

despite their efforts to cancel their unfulfilled Butter Robot preorder.   

93. For example, several consumers have provided Defendants with written 

statements clearly cancelling their Butter Robot order and requesting a refund.   

94. In response, one consumer received an automated email from Defendants, which 

completely ignored the cancellation and refund request, and instead thanked the consumer for 

their patience and acknowledged that Defendants did not have a specific shipping date.   See 

Exhibit C.  



14 
 

95. On other occasions, Defendants have attempted to dissuade consumers from 

cancelling their order, by noting the pricing discounts associated with the preorder, and implying 

that the order will not be cancelled until consumers reassert their intention to move forward with 

the cancellation. See Exhibit C.  

96. In most instances, the consumers continued to express their desire to cancel the 

order and be refunded, which the Defendants did not honor.   

97. As a result, many consumers have not received a refund, nor do they have any 

information as to when the refund will be forthcoming, despite their multiple attempts to contact 

the Defendants and demand a refund for their unfulfilled Butter Robot order.   

Consumer Complaints 

98. The Office of Attorney General, Bureau of Consumer Protection, has received 

numerous consumer complaints relative to the Defendants’ failure to provide ordered 

merchandise, or in the alternative, issue a full refund, in a timely manner.     

99. The Commonwealth has reason to believe there are additional consumers who 

have not submitted complaints to the Bureau and who have also been harmed due to the 

methods, acts, and practices of Defendants, which include, but are not limited to, those alleged 

herein.    

100. For example, the Commonwealth is aware that the Better Business Bureau has 

received hundreds of complaints against the Defendants from consumers residing nationwide.  

101. The Commonwealth believes that the public interest is served by seeking before 

this Honorable Court a permanent injunction to restrain the methods, acts and practices of the 

Defendants, as herein complained of and as herein set forth.  Further, the Commonwealth 
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requests restitution, civil penalties, costs and other appropriate equitable relief as redress for 

violations of the Consumer Protection Law.   

COUNT I – FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE CONSUMER PROTECTION LAW 

(Failure to Provide Prepaid Merchandise in a Timely Manner)  

102. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein as though fully set forth below. 

103. As detailed above, Defendants solicited orders for the sale of merchandise on 

their websites - - specifically the Butter Robot, Cozmo 2.0 and Vector 2.0. 

104. Defendants entered into contracts with thousands of consumers for these robots, 

accepted payments, and failed to ship the purchased product in a timely manner. 

105. Defendants did not advertise any limitation on the quantity of robots available. 

106. As alleged in paragraphs 41, 62-63 and 90-91, Defendants have failed to provide 

numerous consumers with the pre-purchased Vector 2.0, Cozmo 2.0 and Butter Robots in a 

timely manner.   

107. Many of these consumers placed their orders years ago, and yet, still have not 

received their order.   

108. Moreover, Defendants no longer have a delivery date for the robots posted on 

their websites.     

109. The aforesaid acts and practices constitute unfair methods of competition and/or 

unfair or deceptive acts or practices as prohibited by Section 201-3 of the Consumer Protection 

Law, as defined by Section 201-2 of said Law, including without limitation: 

a. Representing that goods or services have sponsorship, approval, 

characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits or quantities that they do not have 
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or that a person has a sponsorship, approval, status, affiliation, or connection 

that he does not have, in violation of Section 201-2(4)(v);  

b. Advertising goods or services with intent not to sell them as advertised, in 

violation of Section 201-2(4)(ix); 

c. Advertising goods or services with intent not to supply reasonably expectable 

public demand, unless the advertisement discloses a limitation of quantity; in 

violation of Section 201-2(4)(x); and 

d. Engaging in any other fraudulent or deceptive conduct which creates a 

likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding, in violation of Section 201-

2(4)(xxi).  

73 P.S. § 201-3 and § 201-2(4)(v), (ix), (x) and (xxi).  

110. The above-described conduct has been willful and is unlawful under Section 201-

3 of the Consumer Protection Law, 73 P.S. § 201-3. 

111. The Commonwealth believes that citizens of the Commonwealth are suffering and 

will continue to suffer harm unless the acts and practices complained of herein are permanently 

enjoined.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the Commonwealth respectfully requests this Honorable Court to issue 

an Order: 

A. Declaring Defendants’ conduct, as set forth in this Complaint, to be in violation of 

the Consumer Protection Law; 

B. Directing Defendants to comply with the Consumer Protection Law and any 

amendments thereto;  
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C. Directing Defendants, pursuant to Section 201-4.1 of the Consumer Protection 

Law, to make full restitution to all consumers who have suffered losses as a result 

of the acts and practices alleged in this Complaint and any other acts or practices 

which violate the Consumer Protection Law; 

D. Directing Defendants, pursuant to Section 201-8(b) of the Consumer Protection 

Law, to pay civil penalties in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) for 

each and every violation of the Consumer Protection Law, and three thousand 

dollars ($3,000.00) for each such violation involving a victim age sixty (60) or 

older;  

E. Permanently enjoining Defendants from engaging in future violations of the 

Consumer Protection Law, such as prohibiting them from offering presales/future 

sales for any goods;  

F. Directing Defendants, pursuant to Section 1602-U of the Fiscal Code, 72 P.S.§ 

1602-U, to pay the Commonwealth for the costs of its investigation and 

prosecution of this action, including but not limited to attorney’s fees; and  

G. Granting such other relief as the Court deems necessary and appropriate. 

COUNT II – FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE CONSUMER PROTECTION LAW 

(Misrepresentations as to Advertised Delivery Dates)  

112. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein as though fully set forth below. 

113. As detailed above, Defendants solicited thousands of orders for the Butter Robot, 

Cozmo 2.0 and Vector 2.0 via the Internet. 

114. Defendants were unable to ship the robots before the stated delivery dates.   
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115. As a consequence, Defendants repeatedly pushed back the advertised delivery 

dates for the robots, as alleged in paragraphs 26-34, 52-59 and 75-81. 

116. Oftentimes, Defendants provided little to no explanation for the delay, as alleged 

in paragraphs 28, 33, 38, 54, 57, 77-78, and 84. 

117. Defendants presented these revised delivery dates without a reasonable basis to 

expect that they would be able to fulfill the orders by the stated delivery dates.  

118. Despite the passage of several years, Defendants still have not fulfilled many of 

the orders and no longer have an estimated delivery date for the robots.   

119. The aforesaid acts and practices constitute unfair methods of competition and/or 

unfair or deceptive acts or practices as prohibited by Section 201-3 of the Consumer Protection 

Law, as defined by Section 201-2 of said Law, including without limitation: 

a. Representing that goods or services have sponsorship, approval, 

characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits or quantities that they do not have 

or that a person has a sponsorship, approval, status, affiliation, or connection 

that he does not have, in violation of Section 201-2(4)(v);  

b. Advertising goods or services with intent not to sell them as advertised, in 

violation of Section 201-2(4)(ix); 

c. Advertising goods or services with intent not to supply reasonably expectable 

public demand, unless the advertisement discloses a limitation of quantity; in 

violation of Section 201-2(4)(x); and 

d. Engaging in any other fraudulent or deceptive conduct which creates a 

likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding, in violation of Section 201-

2(4)(xxi).  
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73 P.S. § 201-3 and § 201-2(4)(v), (ix), (x) and (xxi).  

120. The above-described conduct has been willful and is unlawful under Section  

201-3 of the Consumer Protection Law, 73 P.S. § 201-3. 

121. The Commonwealth believes that citizens of the Commonwealth are suffering and 

will continue to suffer harm unless the acts and practices complained of herein are permanently 

enjoined.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the Commonwealth respectfully requests this Honorable Court to issue 

an Order: 

A. Declaring Defendants’ conduct, as set forth in this Complaint, to be in violation of 

the Consumer Protection Law; 

B. Directing Defendants to comply with the Consumer Protection Law and any 

amendments thereto;  

C. Directing Defendants, pursuant to Section 201-4.1 of the Consumer Protection 

Law, to make full restitution to all consumers who have suffered losses as a result 

of the acts and practices alleged in this Complaint and any other acts or practices 

which violate the Consumer Protection Law; 

D. Directing Defendants, pursuant to Section 201-8(b) of the Consumer Protection 

Law, to pay civil penalties in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) for 

each and every violation of the Consumer Protection Law, and three thousand 

dollars ($3,000.00) for each such violation involving a victim age sixty (60) or 

older;  
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E. Permanently enjoining Defendants from engaging in future violations of the 

Consumer Protection Law, such as prohibiting them from offering presales/future 

sales for any goods;  

F. Directing Defendants, pursuant to Section 1602-U of the Fiscal Code,  to pay the 

Commonwealth for the costs of its investigation and prosecution of this action, 

including but not limited to attorney’s fees; and  

G. Granting such other relief as the Court deems necessary and appropriate. 

COUNT III – FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE CONSUMER PROTECTION LAW 

(Failing to Notify Consumers of Their Right to Cancel and Denying Consumers the Ability to 

Cancel Undelivered Orders)   

122. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein as though fully set forth below. 

123. As alleged above in paragraphs 39-40, 60-61, and 86-90. Defendants have 

historically failed to adequately notify consumers of their right to cancel and seek a prompt 

refund.  

124. As alleged above in paragraphs 19-20, Defendants are currently denying 

consumers the ability to cancel or alter their orders.   

125. The aforesaid acts and practices constitute unfair methods of competition and/or 

unfair or deceptive acts or practices as prohibited by Section 201-3 of the Consumer Protection 

Law, as defined by Section 201-2 of said Law, including without limitation: 

a. Representing that goods or services have sponsorship, approval, 

characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits or quantities that they do not have 

or that a person has a sponsorship, approval, status, affiliation, or connection 

that he does not have, in violation of Section 201-2(4)(v); and 
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b. Engaging in any other fraudulent or deceptive conduct which creates a 

likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding, in violation of Section 201-

2(4)(xxi).  

73 P.S. § 201-3 and § 201-2(4)(v) and (xxi).  

126. The above-described conduct has been willful and is unlawful under Section  

201-3 of the Consumer Protection Law, 73 P.S. § 201-3. 

127.   The Commonwealth believes that citizens of the Commonwealth are suffering 

and will continue to suffer harm unless the acts and practices complained of herein are 

permanently enjoined.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the Commonwealth respectfully requests this Honorable Court to issue 

an Order: 

A. Declaring Defendants’ conduct, as set forth in this Complaint, to be in violation of 

the Consumer Protection Law; 

B. Directing Defendants to comply with the Consumer Protection Law and any 

amendments thereto;  

C. Directing Defendants, pursuant to Section 201-4.1 of the Consumer Protection 

Law, to make full restitution to all consumers who have suffered losses as a result 

of the acts and practices alleged in this Complaint and any other acts or practices 

which violate the Consumer Protection Law; 

D. Directing Defendants, pursuant to Section 201-8(b) of the Consumer Protection 

Law, to pay civil penalties in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) for 

each and every violation of the Consumer Protection Law, and three thousand 
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dollars ($3,000.00) for each such violation involving a victim age sixty (60) or 

older;  

E. Permanently enjoining Defendants from engaging in future violations of the 

Consumer Protection Law, such as prohibiting them from offering presales/future 

sales for any goods;  

F. Directing Defendants, pursuant to Section 1602-U of the Fiscal Code, to pay the 

Commonwealth for the costs of its investigation and prosecution of this action, 

including but not limited to attorney’s fees; and  

G. Granting such other relief as the Court deems necessary and appropriate. 

COUNT IV – FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE CONSUMER PROTECTION LAW 

(Failure to Issue a Prompt, Full Refund to Consumers)   

128. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein as though fully set forth below. 

129. As detailed above in paragraphs 42, 47, 64, 69, 92 and 97 Defendants failed to 

provide consumers with timely refunds. 

130. As detailed above in paragraphs 43-47, 65-69, and 93-97, numerous consumers 

have attempted to cancel their order and/or request a refund, but have not received a prompt 

refund from Defendants.   

131. The aforesaid acts and practices thereby constitute unfair methods of competition 

and/or unfair or deceptive acts or practices as prohibited by Section 201-3 of the Consumer 

Protection Law, as defined by Section 201-2 of said Law, including without limitation: 

a. Representing that goods or services have sponsorship, approval, 

characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits or quantities that they do not have 
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or that a person has a sponsorship, approval, status, affiliation, or connection 

that he does not have, in violation of Section 201-2(4)(v); and 

b. Engaging in any other fraudulent or deceptive conduct which creates a 

likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding, in violation of Section 201-

2(4)(xxi).  

73 P.S. § 201-3 and § 201-2(4)(v) and (xxi).  

132. The above-described conduct has been willful and is unlawful under Section  

201-3 of the Consumer Protection Law, 73 P.S. § 201-3. 

133. The Commonwealth believes that citizens of the Commonwealth are suffering and 

will continue to suffer harm unless the acts and practices complained of herein are permanently 

enjoined.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the Commonwealth respectfully requests this Honorable Court to issue 

an Order: 

A. Declaring Defendants’ conduct, as set forth in this Complaint, to be in violation of 

the Consumer Protection Law; 

B. Directing Defendants to comply with the Consumer Protection Law and any 

amendments thereto;  

C. Directing Defendants, pursuant to Section 201-4.1 of the Consumer Protection 

Law, to make full restitution to all consumers who have suffered losses as a result 

of the acts and practices alleged in this Complaint and any other acts or practices 

which violate the Consumer Protection Law; 
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D. Directing Defendants, pursuant to Section 201-8(b) of the Consumer Protection 

Law, to pay civil penalties in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) for 

each and every violation of the Consumer Protection Law, and three thousand 

dollars ($3,000.00) for each such violation involving a victim age sixty (60) or 

older;  

E. Permanently enjoining Defendants from engaging in future violations of the 

Consumer Protection Law, such as prohibiting them from offering presales/future 

sales for any goods;  

F. Directing Defendants, pursuant to Section 1602-U of the Fiscal Code, to pay the 

Commonwealth for the costs of its investigation and prosecution of this action, 

including but not limited to attorney’s fees; and  

G. Granting such other relief as the Court deems necessary and appropriate. 

COUNT V – FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE CONSUMER PROTECTION LAW 

(Failure to Comply with the Federal Trade Commission Rule concerning Mail, Internet or 

Telephone Order Sales)  

134. Under Section 435.2(a)(1) of the Federal Trade Commission Rule concerning 

Mail, Internet, or Telephone Order Sales, 16 C.F.R. § 435.2 et seq. (“FTC Mail Order Rule”) it 

constitutes an unfair or deceptive act or practice for a seller to solicit orders for the sale of 

merchandise via the Internet without a reasonable basis to expect shipment of the ordered 

merchandise within the time stated in any such solicitation; or if no time is stated, within thirty 

(30) days after receipt of the order. 

135. Defendants’ conduct as alleged herein is not in compliance with Section 

435.2(a)(1) of  the FTC Mail Order Rule because Defendants solicited orders via the Internet 
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without a reasonable basis to expect that they would be able to fulfill the orders within the time 

stated or within 30 days of the order.    

136. Examples of Defendants’ non-compliance with Section 435.2(a)(1) of the FTC 

Mail Order Rule are set forth in paragraphs 26-33, 41, 53-59, 62-63, 75-81 and 90-91.   

137. Under Section 435.2(a)(2) of the FTC Mail Order Rule, it constitutes an unfair or 

deceptive act or practice for a seller to provide consumers with a revised shipping date, unless 

the seller has a reasonable basis for making such representation. 

138. Defendants’ conduct as alleged herein was not in compliance with Section 

435.2(a)(2) of the FTC Mail Order Rule because Defendants provided consumers with revised 

shipping dates without a reasonable basis for making such representations.    

139. Examples of Defendants’ non-compliance with Section 435.2(a)(2) of the FTC 

Mail Order Rule are set forth in paragraphs 26-34, 38, 52-59 and 75-81, 84.   

140. Under Section 435.2(a)(3) of the FTC Mail Order Rule, it constitutes an unfair or 

deceptive act or practice for a seller to claim that they are unable to make any representation 

regarding the length of any delay without having a reasonable basis and providing consumers 

with the reason for the delay.   

141. Defendants’ conduct as alleged herein was not in compliance with Section 

435.2(a)(3) of the FTC Mail Order Rule because Defendants failed to provide consumers with 

reasons for the indefinite delivery delay(s).   

142. Examples of Defendants’ non-compliance with Section 435.2(a)(3) of the FTC 

Mail Order Rule are set forth in paragraphs 26-34, 38, 52-59 and 75-81, 84.   

143. Under Section 435.2(b)(1) of the FTC Mail Order Rule it constitutes an unfair or 

deceptive act or practice for a seller to fail to provide to consumers a clear and conspicuous 
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notice of their right to either consent to a delay in shipping or to cancel their order and receive a 

prompt refund. 

144. Defendants’ conduct as alleged herein is not in compliance with Section 

435.2(b)(1) of the FTC Mail Order Rule because Defendants failed to clearly and conspicuously, 

and without prior demand, offer consumers an option to either consent to a delay in shipment or 

cancel their order and receive a prompt refund.  

145. Examples of Defendants’ non-compliance with Section 435.2(b)(1) of the FTC 

Mail Order Rule are set forth in paragraphs 19-20, 39-40, 60-61, and 86-89. 

146. Under Section 435.2(b)(2) of the FTC Mail Order Rule it constitutes an unfair or 

deceptive act or practice for a seller to fail to offer consumers a renewed option to consent to a 

further delay or cancel the order and receive a prompt refund when they fail to meet revised 

shipping dates.     

147. Defendants’ conduct as alleged herein is not in compliance with Section 

435.2(b)(2) of the FTC Mail Order Rule because Defendants failed to notify consumers of their 

renewed ability to consent to a further delay or cancel their order and receive a full refund.   

148. Under Section 4352(b)(2)(ii) of the FTC Mail Order Rule it constitutes an unfair 

or deceptive act or practice for a seller to fail to offer consumers who consented to an indefinite 

delay an ongoing right to cancel. 

149. Defendants’ conduct alleged herein is not in compliance with Section 

435.2(b)(2)(ii) of the FTC Mail Order Rule because Defendants failed to offer consumers who 

consented to an indefinite delay a continuing right to cancel the order. 

150. Examples of Defendants’ non-compliance with Section 435.2(b)(2) and (2)(ii) of 

the FTC Mail Order Rule are set forth in paragraphs 19-20, 39-40, 60-61, and 86-89. 
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151. Under Section 435.2(c) of the FTC Mail Order Rule, it constitutes an unfair or 

deceptive act or practice for a seller to fail to deem an order cancelled and to make a prompt 

refund where:  

a. the seller has not offered consumers with an option to consent to a delay in 

shipping or to cancel their order, or shipped the merchandise within the time 

clearly and conspicuously stated in any solicitation; or if no time is stated, 

within thirty (30) days after receipt of the order; 

b. the seller receives a cancellation request from the consumer; 

c. the seller is unable to meet a revised delivery date and has not obtained the 

consumer’s consent for any further delays; or   

d. the seller decides not to ship the merchandise. 

16 C.F.R. §435.2(c)(1-5) 

152. Defendants’ conduct as described herein is not in compliance with Section 

4335.2(c)(1) of the FTC Mail Order Rule, because Defendants failed to honor order cancellations 

by consumers.   

153. Defendants’ conduct as described herein is not in compliance with  Section 

4335.2(c)(2) or (3) of the FTC Mail Order Rule, because Defendants failed to deem an order 

cancelled and make a prompt refund in each instance in which they were unable to meet a 

revised delivery date and had not obtained the consumer’s consent for any further delays. 

154. Defendants’ conduct as described herein is not in compliance with Section 

4335.2(c)(4) of the FTC Mail Order Rule, because Defendants failed to deem an order cancelled 

and make a prompt refund in each instance in which they decided not to ship the merchandise. 
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155. Defendants’ conduct as described herein is not in compliance with Section 

4335.2(c)(5) of the FTC Mail Order Rule, because Defendants failed to deem an order cancelled 

and make a prompt refund when they failed to offer consumers with an option to consent to a 

delay in shipping or to cancel their order.  

156. Examples of Defendants’ non-compliance with Section 435.2(c)(1-5) of the FTC 

Mail Order Rule are set forth in paragraphs 42-47, 64-69, and 92-97. 

157. The aforesaid acts and practices constitute unfair methods of competition and/or 

unfair or deceptive acts or practices as prohibited by Section 201-3 of the Consumer Protection 

Law, as defined by Section 201-2 of said Law, including without limitation: 

c. Engaging in any other fraudulent or deceptive conduct which creates a 

likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding, in violation of Section 201-

2(4)(xxi).  

73 P.S. § 201-3 and § 201-2(4)(xxi).  

158. The above-described conduct has been willful and is unlawful under Section  

201-3 of the Consumer Protection Law, 73 P.S. § 201-3. 

159. The Commonwealth believes that citizens of the Commonwealth are suffering and 

will continue to suffer harm unless the acts and practices complained of herein are permanently 

enjoined.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the Commonwealth respectfully requests this Honorable Court to issue 

an Order: 

H. Declaring Defendants’ conduct, as set forth in this Complaint, to be in violation of 

the Consumer Protection Law; 
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I. Directing Defendants to comply with the Consumer Protection Law and any 

amendments thereto;  

J. Directing Defendants, pursuant to Section 201-4.1 of the Consumer Protection 

Law, to make full restitution to all consumers who have suffered losses as a result 

of the acts and practices alleged in this Complaint and any other acts or practices 

which violate the Consumer Protection Law; 

K. Directing Defendants, pursuant to Section 201-8(b) of the Consumer Protection 

Law, to pay civil penalties in the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) for 

each and every violation of the Consumer Protection Law, and three thousand 

dollars ($3,000.00) for each such violation involving a victim age sixty (60) or 

older;  

L. Permanently enjoining Defendants from engaging in future violations of the 

Consumer Protection Law, such as prohibiting them from offering presales/future 

sales for any goods;  

M. Directing Defendants, pursuant to Section 1602-U of the Fiscal Code, to pay the 

Commonwealth for the costs of its investigation and prosecution of this action, 

including but not limited to attorney’s fees; and  

N. Granting such other relief as the Court deems necessary and appropriate. 

    Respectfully submitted, 

    COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 

    OFFICE OF ATTORNEY GENERAL 

 

MICHELLE A. HENRY 

ATTORNEY GENERAL 
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